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1 Section 811 is part of Subtitle B of Title VIII 
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3 See also FTC Rule 4.2(d), 16 CFR 4.2(d). The 
comment must be accompanied by an explicit 
request for confidential treatment, including the 
factual and legal basis for the request, and must 
identify the specific portions of the comment to be 
withheld from the public record. The request will 
be granted or denied by the Commission’s General 
Counsel, consistent with applicable law and the 
public interest. See FTC Rule 4.9(c), 16 CFR 4.9(c). 

4 42 U.S.C. 17001-17386. 
5 42 U.S.C. 17301. 
6 42 U.S.C. 17302. 
7 Section 813(a) provides that Subtitle B shall be 
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Commission reads all parts of both sections to cover 
all three types of products: crude oil, gasoline, and 
petroleum distillates. See 73 FR at 25621 n.59; 73 
FR at 48320 n.40. 

12 73 FR 25614. Rulemaking documents can be 
found at (http://www.ftc.gov/ftc/oilgas/rules.htm). 

13 73 FR at 25620-24. The comment period for the 
ANPR closed on June 23, 2008, after the 
Commission granted an extension requested by a 
major industry trade association. Letter from the 
American Petroleum Institute to FTC Secretary 
Donald S. Clark, (May 19, 2008), available at 
(http://www.ftc.gov/os/comments/ 
). 
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is ‘‘not an appropriate or workable model for an 
FTC market manipulation rule that applies to 
wholesale petroleum markets’’); Plains at 2 (‘‘The 
types of protective rules and doctrines that may be 
appropriate for the securities markets . . . cannot 
simply be applied without modification to the 
petroleum markets.’’). 

27 See, e.g., NPRA at 17, 31 (recommending 
modifications to the proposed Rule’s text and also 
suggesting alternative rule language); Navajo Nation 
at 7-9 (urging that the Commission define the term 
‘‘manipulative’’ in the proposed Rule); API at 11 
(requesting that the Commission modify the text of 
the proposed Rule to account for differences 
between wholesale petroleum and securities 
markets). 

28 Many commenters urged the Commission to 
require a showing of specific intent instead of 
recklessness to prove a violation of an FTC rule. 
See, e.g., CFDR at 4 (recommending that an FTC 
rule require a ‘‘[specific] intent to cause a false, 
fictitious and artificial impact on market prices or 
market activity’’); ISDA at 3-4 (urging the 
Commission to require proof of specific intent 
rather than recklessness); NPRA at 18 (stating that 
a recklessness standard is not appropriate for 
wholesale petroleum markets); Sutherland at 5 
(encouraging the Commission to require specific 
intent rather than recklessness); Muris at 11 
(recommending that the Commission require proof 
of specific intent); see also Argus at 2 (stating that 
‘‘a specific intent requirement would encourage 
those who already provide market data to index 
publishers to continue to do so’’); API at 16 (stating 
that the proposed Rule’s recklessness standard ‘‘is 
not sufficient . . . to ‘ensure that the proposed Rule 
does not chill competitive behavior’’’ (citing 73 FR 
at 48328)). But see, e.g., SIGMA at 2 (stating that 
the association is content with the scienter 
requirement that the FTC has adopted in its 
proposed Rule); MS AG at 3 (stating that ‘‘both 
intentional and reckless conduct should be covered 
by the scienter requirement’’); CAPP at 1 
(commending the Commission’s proposed scienter 
requirement, which is designed to avoid chilling 
legitimate business behavior); ATAA at 12 
(expressing support for the FTC’s proposed scienter 
requirement); PMAA at 3-4 (stating that the 
Commission’s proposed elements of proof provide 
‘‘needed clarity’’); CA AG at 2-3 (supporting the 
scienter standard proposed in the NPRM). 

29 Many commenters supported the showing of 
price effects as an element of a cause of action 
under an FTC market manipulation rule. See, e.g., 
Van Susteren at 2 (‘‘The lack of a requirement of 
a showing of price effects to establish culpability 
leaves the rule overbroad and risks inconsistent or 
unwarranted enforcement efforts by the 
Commission.’’); ISDA at 3-4 (asking that the 
Commission require proof of price effects); Muris at 
2 (encouraging the Commission to adopt an effects 
requirement); see also Plains at 3 (urging the 
Commission to make clear that only conduct that 
has a ‘‘manipulative effect on the relevant market’’ 
will be actionable); API at 34 (recommending that 
the Commission require ‘‘proof that a party’s 
deceptive or fraudulent conduct caused market 
conditions to deviate materially from the conditions 

that would have existed but for that conduct’’); 
Sutherland at 6 (urging the FTC to ‘‘require that 
market manipulation actually impact the market’’). 
But see, e.g., MS AG at 3 (asserting ‘‘that proof of 
price effects should not be required to establish a 
violation’’); ATAA at 12 (supporting the FTC’s 
decision not to require proof of price effects); IPMA 
at 4 (‘‘[A]gree[ing] that the proposed Rule should 
not require proof of an identifiable price effect.’’); 
CA AG at 3 (expressing support for the 
Commission’s decision not to include an effects 
requirement). 

30 Several commenters argued that, although the 
proposed Rule’s omissions language may be 
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83 See, e.g., NPRA at 15 (‘‘The greater the 
emphasis on SEC authorities as a source of the 
Commission’s Rule, the greater the likelihood that 
courts would follow the SEC model to imply a 
private right of action under EISA as well.’’); Flint 
Hills at 4 (noting that the closer the Commission 
adheres to a SEC Rule 10b-5 model, the more 
difficult it will be to design a compliance program 
to preclude third-party litigation). 

84 See, e.g.
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96 73 FR at 48329 (citing SEC v. Steadman, 967 
F.2d 6436, 641-42 (D.C. Cir. 1992)); see also 
Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chemical Corp., 553 F.2d 
1033, 1045 (7th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 
875 (1977). 

97 73 FR at 48325. 
98 PMAA at 3 (‘‘The definition[] of . . . ‘person’ . . . 

seem[s] appropriate.’’); Navajo Nation at 8 (adopting 
the FTC’s proposed definition of ‘‘person’’ in its 
recommended rule text). 

99 See 73 FR at 48325. 
100 See, e.g., Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 CFR 

310.2(v); Disclosure Requirements and Prohibitions 
Concerning Franchising, 16 CFR 436.1(n). 

101 73 FR at 48325. 
102 73 FR at 48325. , Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 CFR , Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16rning Franchising, uRi2l.446 0 0 4.5re ReqWi3lm . Tfw
(Concd3(/)-165.3 FR.3 T, Twre 0Tf
3.7202 Tj
7 0m[s] appropriaten at 8 (adopting )Tj
T*
-0.0029 losure Requirements‘0 TD
(, Telning FranchiTC’s propinition of ‘‘perslosure 25. )Ton’’ in its recommende5FR at 4832Tj
4.446 0 0 4.55 52 95
591 310m[s7n its recomme.90 14 FR at 48325. recomme.90 1 TwR at 48325. 
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129 See, e.g., Sutherland at 2 (‘‘We welcome the 
Commission’s decision not to propose specific 
conduct obligations or other affirmative duties that 
superimpose government norms for the rules of the 
marketplace.’’); ATA at 2 n.3 (‘‘We support the 
FTC’s attempt to preserve flexibility by issuing 
general conduct prohibitions so as to allow for 
adaptation to changing market conditions and to 
avoid a ‘laundry list of specifically proscribed 
conduct [that] could quickly become out of date.’’’ 
(quoting 73 FR at 48322-23)); ATAA at 11 (‘‘[T]he 
proposed rule properly contains a broad anti-fraud 
provision.’’); see also Platts at 9 (‘‘Platts generally 
agrees with a non-prescriptive approach for entities’ 
participation in price formation processes.’’). 
Although they did not endorse a ‘‘laundry list’’ 
approach, a few other commenters sought to ensure 
that a rule would proscribe specific conduct as 
manipulative under a rule. See NPCA at 1; MPA at 
2; IPMA at 3-4 (requesting that the Commission 
treat an oil company’s decision to sell only gasoline 
pre-blended with ethanol at the terminal rack as a 
potentially manipulative practice). 

130 See, e.g., API at 9-10, 26 (arguing that the 
proposed Rule was overly broad and would prompt 
market participants to adopt compliance programs 
that restrict voluntary disclosures); ISDA at 9 
(arguing that market liquidity, particularly in times 
of greater market stress, would be adversely affected 
if ambiguous rule provisions artificially constrain 
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147 MFA at 10. 
148 MFA at 11. MFA further argues that because 

ethanol is subject to futures trading and, thus, is ‘‘a 
statutory ‘commodity’ under the CEA,’’ ethanol is 
subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the CFTC 
and should be exempt from any FTC market 
manipulation rule. Id. This argument is addressed 
above in Section IV.B. 

149 ‘‘It is unlawful for any person, directly or 
indirectly, to use or employ . . . .’’ 42 U.S.C. 17301 
(emphasis added). 

150 In the NPRM, the Commission relied upon 
guidance from the Supreme Court decision in 
Zandford to conclude that the ‘‘in connection with’’ 
requirement is satisfied where fraudulent conduct 
coincides ‘‘with a purchase or sale of crude oil, 
gasoline, or petroleum distillates at wholesale.’’ 73 
FR at 48329 (citing SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 
820 (2002)). 

151 See Zandford, 535 U.S. 813. 
152 API at 27-28 (citing Zandford, 535 U.S. at 

819). 
153 API at 30-32; NPRA at 33 (stating that the 

Commission should not interpret the ‘‘in 
connection with’’ language as reaching upstream 
conduct and statements, including operational and 
supply decisions); see also CFDR (Mills), Tr. at 218- 
19 (asserting that supply decisions without 
misleading statements do not otherwise rise to the 
level of a fraud). 

154 API also recommended that the Commission, 
‘‘at a minimum, make clear in the final Rule that 
a firm’s ability to provide an objective business 
justification for the challenged supply decision 
should provide an affirmative defense to liability 
under the Rule.’’ API at 32. 

155 See, e.g., NPRA at 33 (arguing that by reaching 
supply decisions under a rule, the Commission 
‘‘could seriously distort refiners’ decision making 
and disrupt competitive activity in petroleum 
markets’’); API (Long), Tr. at 214-15 (contending 
that the FTC’s oversight of ordinary supply and 
operational decisions ‘‘could have devastating 
effects on the market’’). 

156 73 FR at 48329; Zandford, 535 U.S. at 820. 

157 ATA at 3; IPMA at 4 (agreeing that 
manipulation of ethanol and other oxygenates 
should be covered where changes in ethanol prices 
directly or indirectly affect wholesale gasoline 
prices); MPA at 2; NPCA at 1; NPRA (Drevna), Tr. 
at 221-22 (contending that the Commission should 
‘‘absolutely’’ consider blending components); 
SIGMA (Columbus), Tr. at 222-23 (agreeing that a 
rule should reach ‘‘[a]nything that’s mandated as a 
component’’). 

158 ATA asserted that the Commission’s effort to 
address manipulation of energy markets will be 
incomplete if the Commission failed to address 
manipulation in markets for alternative fuels. ATA 
at 3; see also IPMA at 1-2 (stating that increasingly, 
ethanol or other oxygenates have been added to 
gasoline because of environmental concerns or 
other reasons); SIGMA (Columbus), Tr. at 224 (‘‘I 
assure you [that] ethanol is a mandated component 
in [gasoline] . . . .’’). 

159 MFA at 11-12; MFA (Young), Tr. at 224 
(arguing that Congress did not intend for corn and 
sugar—subcomponent parts—to be covered under 
the Rule). 

160 MFA contended that SEC precedent, upon 
which the Commission relies, has never used the 
‘‘in connection with’’ requirement to reach 
collateral markets that may affect securities. Rather, 
MFA argues, the SEC has focused on securities 
markets. MFA at 10-11. 

correct interpretation of the phrase 
‘‘directly or indirectly,’’ used in the 
preamble to Section 317.3 of the 
proposed Rule. MFA argued that 
Section 811 of EISA ‘‘does not authorize 
the Commission to prohibit any 
misconduct that directly or indirectly 
affects wholesale gasoline prices.’’147 
Rather, according to MFA, ‘‘[t]he phrase 
‘directly or indirectly’ modifies ‘use or 
employ’ in Section 811, nothing more or 
less.’’148 

The Commission intends that the 
phrase ‘‘directly or indirectly’’—which 
originates in Section 811 of EISA149 and 
is also included in revised Section 
317.3—delineates the level of 
involvement necessary to establish 
personal liability under the revised 
proposed Rule. In particular, it means 
that the revised proposed Rule will 
impose liability not only upon any 
person who directly engages in 
manipulation, but also against any 
person who does so indirectly. Thus, 
the Commission intends that the phrase 
‘‘directly or indirectly’’ in the revised 
proposed Rule be interpreted and 
applied to prevent a person from 
engaging in the prohibited conduct, 
either alone or through others. 

(2) ‘‘In Connection With’’ 

Section 811 authorizes the 
Commission to prohibit manipulative 
conduct undertaken ‘‘in connection 
with’’ the purchase or sale of crude oil, 
gasoline, or petroleum distillates at 
wholesale. In the NPRM, the 
Commission proposed to construe the 
phrase ‘‘in connection with’’ broadly, 
consistent with SEC legal precedent 
interpreting this language.150 The 
Commission continues to believe that 
the Rule should reach market 
manipulation that occurs in the 
wholesale purchase or sale of products 
covered by Section 811 (and defined in 
the revised proposed Rule)—and ‘‘in 
connection with’’ such purchases or 
sales—provided that there is a sufficient 

nexus between the prohibited conduct 
and the markets for these products.151 

The rulemaking record reflects 
commenter concerns about how the 
Commission might use the ‘‘in 
connection with’’ language to reach 
specific conduct or non-covered 
products. In particular, some 
commenters expressed concerns about 
whether the language might reach 
supply and operational decisions. API 
asserted that the SEC’s broad 
interpretation of ‘‘in connection with’’— 
arising from the fact that the SEA was 
enacted ‘‘to respond to the massive 
economic crisis of 1929 . . .’’—was 
inappropriate for the petroleum 
industry.152 Commenters also urged the 
Commission to limit any rule it 
publishes to statements or acts 
pertaining to ‘‘specific wholesale 
petroleum transactions,’’ and not to 
cover upstream statements or conduct, 
including supply or operational 
decisions.153 Otherwise, these 
commenters argued, an FTC rule would 
result in the Commission regulating 
those activities,154 thereby creating a 
substantial risk of disrupting pro- 
competitive activity in petroleum 
markets.155 

The Commission disagrees with the 
notion that the ‘‘in connection with’’ 
language should never reach supply or 
operational decisions,156 where there is 
a sufficient nexus between the conduct 
at issue and the purchase or sale of 
crude oil, gasoline, or petroleum 
distillates. The Commission emphasizes 
that this interpretation of the phrase ‘‘in 
connection with’’ would not require the 
Commission to regulate or otherwise 
second-guess market participants’ 
legitimate supply and operational 
decision-making. The scienter standard 
clarifies in particular that the revised 

proposed Rule would not apply to 
conduct that appears in hindsight to 
have been simply an error or 
miscalculation, either because the actor 
did not knowingly engage in fraudulent 
or deceptive conduct, or because he or 
she did not intentionally mislead by 
omitting material facts from covered 
statements. Rather, the Commission 
would determine on a case-by-case basis 
whether to reach supply and operational 
decisions or any other type of conduct 
that is ‘‘in connection with’’ the markets 
for covered products. 

In addition, commenters raised 
concerns regarding the Commission’s 
interpretation of the phrase ‘‘in 
connection with’’ with respect to 
products that are not listed in Section 
811. Several commenters supported the 
Commission proposal to reach 
purchases and sales of non-covered 
products, such as renewable fuels and 
blending components, under the 
Rule.157 For example, one commenter 
argued that renewable fuels—such as 
ethanol and biodiesel—are growing in 
significance as a result of federal and 
state government mandates to reduce 
dependence on foreign oil.158 Another 
commenter, however, opposed 
extending the Rule to include ethanol, 
as well as sugar, corn, and other 
commodities that are inputs into 
ethanol.159 This commenter argued that 
the language of Section 811 does not 
specifically list non-petroleum based 
commodities, and that the Commission 
is not authorized to reach them.160 

The Commission intends to reach 
products—such as renewable fuels (e.g., 
ethanol or biodiesel) or blending 
components (e.g., alkylate or 
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161 See NPRA (Drevna), Tr. at 225 (‘‘[I]f you’re 
going to let potentially 35 percent of the market out 
of the [regulation], what’s the point?’’). 

162 The Commission believes that, by treating 
omissions separately, market participants can more 
readily understand when alleged conduct violates 
revised proposed Rule Section 317.3(a). 

163 See, e.g., SEC v. Rana Research, Inc., 8 F.3d 
1358 (9th Cir. 1993) (seeking permanent injunctive 
relief alleging that defendant’s press release 
contained materially false and misleading 
statements); SEC v. Softpoint, Inc., 958 F. Supp. 846 
(S.D.N.Y. 1997) (finding defendant liable under SEC 
Rule 10b-5 when defendant disseminated false 
information to the market through press releases 
and SEC filings);In the Matter of CMS Mktg. Serv. 
& Trading Co., Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ¶ 29,634 
(C.F.T.C. Nov. 25, 2003) (finding liability for the 
submission of false information to private reporting 
services); see also CFTC v. Delay, 2006 WL 3359076 
(D. Neb. Nov. 17, 2006) (holding that the CFTC 
failed to prove that defendant knowingly delivered 
any false and misleading reports to the USDA on 
cattle sales under a charge of manipulation and 
attempted manipulation of the feeder cattle futures 
markets). 

164 See, e.g., SEC v. U.S. Envtl., Inc., 155 F.3d 107 
(2d Cir. 1998) (finding that the SEC’s complaint 
sufficiently alleged that the defendant manipulated 
the market for a stock in violation of SEC Rule 10b- 
5 by engaging in wash sales and other deceptive 
conduct); In the Matter of Michael Batterman, 46 
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language and legislative history of EISA point to the 
SEC, the FERC, and the CFTC as relevant regulatory 
models, ‘‘all of which require proof of scienter’’); 
PMAA at 3-4 (supporting a scienter requirement). 
But see Navajo Nation at 5 n.5 (asserting that a 
scienter requirement makes the proposed Rule 
burdensome). 

170 See, e.g., ISDA (Velie), Tr. At 12-13 (‘‘[W]e 
would ask the Commission to reconsider its use of 
a recklessness standard.’’); Flint Hills (Hallock), Tr. 
at 83 (‘‘The recklessness standard is one that gives 
us great pause in terms of trying to create internal 
compliance policies.’’); Sutherland at 5 (‘‘Whatever 
the appropriateness of [the recklessness] standard 
in the SEC context . . . drawing inferences of 
misconduct based on imputed knowledge rather 
than actual intent is not a sound regulatory exercise 
when applied to the prevention of market 
manipulation in the commodity markets . . . .’’); see 
also Pirrong Tr. at 114-15 (asserting that a 
recklessness standard could capture certain conduct 
that should not be captured, and that would not be 
captured by a specific intent standard); Brown- 
Hruska at 8 (‘‘In order to encourage pro-competitive 
behavior, it is important that the standard for 
liability should be no less than specific intent 
. . . .’’). 

171 See, e.g., API at 4 (‘‘Although a recklessness 
standard may be appropriate in the highly regulated 
securities context, with its fiduciary duties and 
strict disclosure requirements, it is not suited to 
wholesale petroleum markets.’’); NPRA at 18-19 
(explaining that ‘‘[t]he application of a 
‘recklessness’ standard may make sense in a 
securities context where parties owe each other 
fiduciary duties or are in other relationships of trust 
or confidence,’’ but not in wholesale petroleum 
markets, in which clear standards of care do not 
exist between sophisticated market participants); 
Sutherland at 5 (stating that the recklessness 
standard may be appropriate for securities markets 
but not for commodity markets ‘‘where buyers and 
sellers do not owe one another fiduciary duties’’); 
Plains at 2-3 (explaining that the recklessness 
standard in the NPRM is inapplicable to wholesale 
petroleum markets where ‘‘there is no presumption 
that one market participant owes any duties to its 
counterparties’’); ISDA at 4 (‘‘Because the 
prohibitions of SEC Rule 10b-5 are derived from 
statutory duties that do not exist in the wholesale 
commodities markets, many market participants 
cannot determine what behavior (other than false or 
misleading statements) may be prohibited . . . .’’). 

172 See, e.g., API at 3 (asserting that recklessness 
is a ‘‘more malleable standard’’); CFDR (Mills), Tr. 
at 92-95 (asserting that recklessness would create 
uncertainty as to how the law would be applied). 

173 See, e.g.
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600, 606 (2003) (upholding a fraud claim when the 
facts presented a lawful ‘‘nondisclosure [of 
information] accompanied by intentionally 
misleading statements designed to deceive the 
listener’’). 

189 Section 317.3(b) of the initially proposed Rule 
would have made it unlawful for any person to 
‘‘omit to state a material fact necessary in order to 
make the statements made, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading.’’ 

190 See, e.g., API at 25 (stating that unlike 
wholesale petroleum markets, securities markets are 
‘‘are governed by detailed disclosure obligations 
designed to protect unsophisticated investors’’); 
Muris at 2 (urging the FTC to ‘‘avoid importing 
broad disclosure requirements from highly 
regulated markets that simply have no place in 
wholesale petroleum markets’’); NPRA at 4 (arguing 
that the full disclosure rationale underlying SEC 
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197 This proviso is similar to the anti- 
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226 5 U.S.C. 605. 
227 The RFA definition of ‘‘small entity’’ refers to 

the definition provided in the Small Business Act, 
which defines a ‘‘small-business concern’’ as a 
business that is ‘‘independently owned and 
operated and which is not dominant in its field of 
operation.’’ 15 U.S.C. 632(a)(1). As noted above, 
Section 317.2(d) of the revised proposed Rule 
defines a ‘‘person’’ as ‘‘any individual, group, 
unincorporated association, limited or general 
partnership, corporation, or other business entity.’’ 

228 See 73 FR at 48332. 
229 42 U.S.C. 17301. 

230 Directly covered entities under this revised 
proposed Rule are classified as small businesses 
under the Small Business Size Standards 
component of the North American Industry 
Classification System (‘‘NAICS’’) as follows: 
petroleum refineries (NAICS code 324110) with no 
more than 1,500 employees nor greater than 
125,000 barrels per calendar day Operable 
Atmospheric Crude Oil Distillation capacity; 
petroleum bulk stations and terminals (NAICS code 
424710) with no more than 100 employees; and 
petroleum and petroleum products merchant 
wholesalers (except bulk stations and terminals) 
(NAICS code 424720) with no more than 100 
employees. See SBA, Table of Small Business Size 
Standards Matched to North American Industry 
Classification System Codes (Aug. 22, 2008), 
available at (http://www.sba.gov/idc/groups/public/ 
documents/sba_homepage/serv_sstd_tablepdf.pdf). 

231 The SBA publication providing data on the 
number of firms and number of employees by firm 
does not provide sufficient precision to gauge the 
number of small businesses that may be impacted 
by the revised proposed Rule accurately. The data 
is provided in increments of 0-4 employees, fewer 
than 20 employees and fewer than 500 employees. 
Small Business Administration, Employer Firms, & 
Employment by Employment Size of Firm by 
NAICS Codes, 2006, available at (http:// 
www.sba.gov/advo/research/us06_n6.pdf). Thus for 
the 228 petroleum refiners listed, 185 show that 
they have less than 500 employees. Although the 
Commission is unaware of more than five refiners 
with less than 125,000 barrels of crude distillation 
capacity, the data may be kept by refinery, rather 
than refiner. Similar problems exist for the bulk 
terminal and bulk wholesale categories listed above, 
in which the relevant small business cut off is 
greater than 100 employees. Although the 
Commission sought additional comment on the 
number of small entities covered by the initial 
proposed Rule, it received none. Accordingly, the 
small business data set forth in this IRFA are the 
best estimates available to the Commission at this 
time. Nonetheless, the Commission continues to 
seek comment or information providing better data. 232 See 73 FR at 48332. 

would not have such an economic 
effect.226 

Although the scope of the Rule may 
reach a substantial number of small 
entities as defined in the RFA, the 
Commission believes that the revised 
proposed Rule would not have a 
significant economic impact on those 
businesses.227 In the initial NPRM, the 
Commission specifically requested 
comments on the economic impact of 
the initial proposed Rule and received 
none.228 Given that the revised 
proposed Rule does not impose any 
reporting or disclosure requirements, 
document or data retention 
requirements, or any other specific 
conduct requirements, it is unlikely that 
the revised proposed Rule will impose 
costs to comply beyond the standard 
costs associated with ensuring that acts, 
practices, and courses of conduct are 
not fraudulent or deceptive. Therefore, 
the Commission believes that the 
revised proposed Rule, if finalized, 
would not have a significant economic 
impact on a substantial number of small 
entities. Notwithstanding this belief, the 
Commission provides a full IRFA 
analysis to aid in its solicitation for 
additional comments on this topic. 

1. Description of the reasons that action 
by the agency is being considered 

Section 811 grants the Commission 
the authority to publish a rule that is 
‘‘necessary or appropriate in the public 
interest or for the protection of United 
States citizens.’’229 As discussed above, 
the Commission believes that 
promulgating the revised proposed Rule 
is appropriate to prevent fraudulent or 
deceptive conduct in connection with 
wholesale petroleum markets for 
commodities listed in Section 811, and 
the Commission has tailored the revised 
proposed Rule specifically to reach such 
conduct. 

2. Succinct statement of the objectives 
of, and the legal basis for, the revised 
proposed Rule 

The legal basis of the revised 
proposed Rule is Section 811 of EISA, 
which prohibits fraudulent or deceptive 
conduct in the wholesale purchase or 
sale of petroleum products in 

contravention of rules, if any, that the 
Commission may publish. The revised 
proposed Rule is intended to define the 
conduct that the law proscribes. 

3. Description of and, where feasible, an 
estimate of the number of small entities 
to which the revised proposed Rule will 
apply 

The revised proposed Rule applies to 
persons, including business entities, 
engaging in the wholesale purchase or 
sale of crude oil, gasoline, and 
petroleum distillates. These potentially 
include petroleum refiners, blenders, 
wholesalers, and dealers (including 
terminal operators that sell covered 
commodities). Although many of these 
entities are large international and 
domestic corporations, the Commission 
believes that a number of these covered 
entities may fall into the category of 
small entities.230 According to the Small 
Business Administration (‘‘SBA’’) size 
standards, and utilizing SBA source 
data, the Commission estimates that 
between approximately 1,700 and 5,200 
covered entities would be classified as 
‘‘small entities.’’231 

4. Description of projected reporting, 
recordkeeping, and other compliance 
requirements, including an estimate of 
the classes of small entities that will be 
subject to the requirement and the type 
of professional skills necessary for 
preparation of the report or record 

The Commission does not propose, 
and the revised proposed Rule does not 
contain, any requirement that covered 
entities create, retain, submit, or 
disclose any information. Accordingly, 
the revised proposed Rule would 
impose no recordkeeping or related data 
retention and maintenance or disclosure 
requirements on any covered entity, 
including small entities. Given that the 
revised proposed Rule does not impose 
any reporting requirements,232 it is 
unlikely that the revised proposed Rule 
would impose costs to comply beyond 
standard costs (or skills) associated with 
ensuring that conduct is not fraudulent 
or deceptive. 

5. Identification of other duplicative, 
overlapping, or conflicting federal rules 

As discussed previously, other federal 
agencies have regulatory authority to 
prohibit in whole or in part fraudulent 
or deceptive conduct involving 
petroleum products. The SEC has 
authority to stop fraudulent and 
deceptive conduct involving the 
securities and securities offerings of 
companies involved in the petroleum 
industry. Additionally, the CFTC has 
authority to bring an action against any 
person who is manipulating or 
attempting to manipulate energy 
commodities. 

As explained in Section IV.B. above, 
the Commission does not intend for the 
revised proposed Rule to impose 
contradictory requirements on regulated 
entities in the futures markets or 
otherwise. To the extent, if any, that the 
revised proposed Rule’s requirements 
could duplicate requirements already 
established by other agencies for such 
markets, the revised proposed Rule 
should not impose any additional 
compliance costs. The Commission is 
requesting comment on the extent to 
which other federal standards 
concerning fraud and deception may 
duplicate, satisfy, or inform the revised 
proposed Rule’s requirements. In 
addition, the Commission seeks 
comment and information about any 
statutes or rules that may conflict with 
the revised proposed Rule’s 
requirements, as well as any state, local, 
or industry rules or policies that require 
covered entities to implement practices 
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rule that prohibits all acts, practices, or 
courses of conduct that operate or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit on 
any person, including, e.g., common law 
fraud in which injury may not extend 
beyond the individual parties or 
otherwise impair the integrity of 
wholesale petroleum markets at large; 

(2) whether, as a policy matter, 
Section 317.3(a) should prohibit all acts, 
practices, or courses of conduct that 
operate or would operate as a fraud or 
deceit on any person, including, e.g., 
common law fraud in which injury may 
not extend beyond the individual 
parties or otherwise impair the integrity 
of wholesale petroleum markets at large; 
if not, discuss how the reach of the 
provision should be bounded, 
including, e.g., the merits of a proviso 
that the challenged conduct distort or 
tend to distort market conditions. 

c. Discuss the merits or flaws of the 
Section 317.3(a) scienter standard that 
the challenged person ‘‘knowingly’’ act. 
In the context of wholesale petroleum 
markets and in comparison to the 
tentative ‘‘knowingly engage’’ standard, 
how would an alternative ‘‘intentionally 
engage’’ standard affect the ability of the 
Commission to protect consumers from 
deleterious market manipulation? What 
differences, if any, are there between the 
two alternative standards respecting the 
ability of firms to comply with Section 
317.3(a), including the costs of 
compliance? 

d. As explained in the discussion of 
revised proposed Rule Section 317.3(b), 
the Commission proposes that the Rule 
prohibit omissions of material fact— 
specifically, omissions of material facts 
that are necessary to ensure that a 
previously made statement is not 
misleading, provided that the 
informative content of the misleading 
statement distorts or tends to distort 
market conditions for any such product. 
What are the costs and benefits of this 
provision? 

e. Describe acts, practices, or courses 
of conduct, if any, that would threaten 
the integrity of wholesale petroleum 
markets that could not be reached by 
Section 317.3(a) but could be reached by 
Section 317.3(b). If such conduct exists, 
what is its incidence? In comparison to 
conduct injurious to the integrity of 
wholesale petroleum markets reached 
by Section 317.3(a), does the potential 
injury from conduct reached by Section 
317.3(b) justify its likely enforcement 
and compliance costs? Explain. 

f. Does the inclusion of the explicit 
scienter requirement in revised 
proposed Rule Section 317.3(b) 
adequately reduce any danger of a 
chilling effect on the flow of 
information essential to the functioning 

of, and transparency in, wholesale 
petroleum markets? Why or why not? 

g. Does the inclusion of the explicit 
scienter requirement—intentionally 
fail—in revised proposed Rule Section 
317.3(b) sufficiently reduce the danger 
of a chilling effect on benign or 
desirable business activity within 
wholesale petroleum markets? Why or 
why not? 

h. What forms of information, if any, 
should market participants be required 
to disclose in order to promote the 
functioning and integrity of wholesale 
petroleum markets? Explain. Under 
what circumstances, if any, would the 
failure to provide such information 
render otherwise truthful statements 
misleading? 

i. To what extent would any danger of 
a chilling effect on benign or desirable 
business activity depend upon the 
existence (or lack thereof) of mandatory 
disclosure obligations in the petroleum 
industry? Explain. 

j. If the merits of Section 317.3(b) as 
currently proposed outweigh any flaws 
or dangers, should it be expanded to 
require that a person update or correct 
information if circumstances change? 
How, if at all, would such an expansion 
alter the cost/benefit calculus? Explain. 

k. What, if any, danger arises if the 
scienter standard in revised proposed 
Rule Section 317.3(b) were changed to 
‘‘knowingly fail’’? Explain. 

l. Is it clear that the ‘‘intentionally’’ 
scienter standard in revised proposed 
Rule Section 317.3(b) means that the 
Commission need only show that a 
violator intends to engage in fraudulent 
or deceptive conduct—without regard to 
the violator’s intent to affect market 
conditions or knowledge of the probable 
consequences of such conduct? Why or 
why not? If not, how could the scienter 
language be revised to limit the 
evidentiary burden to requiring only a 
showing that the fraudulent or 
deceptive conduct was intentional? 

m. What types of evidence might be 
sufficient to demonstrate the proposed 
scienter standard in revised proposed 
Rule Section 317.3(b)? Explain. What 
types of evidence might be sufficient to 
demonstrate the proposed scienter 
standard in revised proposed Rule 
Section 317.3(a)? Discuss with 
particular emphasis on how, if at all, the 
evidentiary requirements to prove 
scienter differ between Section 317.3(b) 
and Section 317.3(a). 

n. Is it clear that the ‘‘intentionally 
fail’’ scienter standard in revised 
proposed Rule Section 317.3(b) is 
neither a recklessness standard nor a 
specific intent standard? If not, how 
could the scienter language be revised to 
make that clear? Explain. 

o. As explained in the discussion of 
revised proposed Rule Section 317.3(b), 
the prohibitions language of Section 811 
of EISA is nearly identical to Section 
10(b) of the SEA from which Rule 10b- 
5 derives. Notwithstanding this 
similarity, does the statutory language 
in Section 811—‘‘as necessary or 
appropriate’’—provide a sufficient basis 
for tailoring the scienter requirement of 
a FTC market manipulation rule to 
address wholesale petroleum markets? 
Explain. 

p. Intent need not be demonstrated to 
prove that an act or practice is deceptive 
or unfair in violation of Section 5 of the 
FTC Act. Does the presence of explicit 
scienter requirements in revised 
proposed Rule Section 317.3 create risk 
of judicial confusion regarding the 
differing elements of proof for an FTC 
market manipulation rule and for 
Section 5 of the FTC Act respecting 
unfair or deceptive practices? Explain. 

q. Does the Section 317.3(b) proviso 
that a misleading statement distort or 
tend to distort market conditions for any 
covered product sufficiently ensure that 
the Rule strikes an appropriate balance 
between protecting consumers from 
petroleum market manipulation and 
limiting the costs to industry attendant 
with achieving that protection? Would 
adding the proviso to Section 317.3(a) 
achieve a better balance between 
protecting consumers and attendant 
industry costs in the enforcement of that 
provision of the Rule? Explain. 

r. Does the Section 317.3(b) proviso 
that a misleading statement distort or 
tend to distort market conditions for any 
covered product unduly limit the 
Commission’s ability to prohibit 
misleading statements that threaten the 
integrity of wholesale petroleum 
markets? Why or why not? If not, how 
could the provision be revised to 
achieve that goal? Explain. Were the 
proviso added to Section 317.3(a), 
would the Commission’s ability to 
protect the integrity of wholesale 
petroleum markets be impaired? 
Explain. 

s. Is it clear that the Section 317.3(b) 
proviso that a misleading statement 
distort or tend to distort market 
conditions for any covered product is 
not intended to create a price or market 
effects element of proof? I.e., is it clear 
from the language of Section 317.3(b) 
that in order to establish a Rule 
violation, the Commission need not 
prove any specific price or market 
effect? If not, how can the Rule be 
revised to make that point clear? 
Discuss. 

t. What types of evidence might be 
sufficient to demonstrate that a 
misleading statement distorts or tends to 
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distort market conditions for any 
covered wholesale petroleum product? 
For example, should it be sufficient 
simply to show that the informative 
content of a misleading statement is of 
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